STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
The South Carolina Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 11 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Judge of Circuit Court

Civil Action No. 2019-CP-23-00269
Appellate Case No. 2020-000438

Raymond A. Wedlake, as a Member of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., Appellant,

v.

Christopher Edwards, Charles Koshis, Denis Esteve, Michael Keels and William Craigo in their capacity as Board of Directors of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Raymond A. Wedlake
703 Creekview Drive
Greenville, SC 29607
Tel: (864) 254-9262
wedlakera@mail.com
Appellant (*Pro Se*)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The Judge erred in misinterpreting the statute with resulting claim that Defendants were immune from suit, which is an error of law.
2. The Judge erred in claiming a "wrong party" was named, which is an error of law in contradiction of statute, and in contradiction of the Judge's own precedent.
3. The Judge erred in granting Summary Judgment which constituted an abuse of discretion when genuine issues of fact existed.
4. The Judge erred in granting Summary Judgment which prohibited Appellant from enjoying "due process" and "equal protection of the laws" by denying adjudication of questions of law as sought with Appellant's-Declaratory- Judgment (DJ) action, which together, represented an abuse of Judicial Discretion.
5. The Judge erred by applying a wrong standard of tort requirements, resulting in subsequent belittlement of Appellant's-DJ action, which is an abuse of discretion and contrary to existing-case law.
6. The Judge abused his discretion by accepting without evidentiary support many false claims stated during the Hearing by Defense Counsel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Everywhere below, references to: “Record on Appeal”, is denoted by “R.”.

Appellant Raymond A. Wedlake appeals from an Order of February 20, 2020 (R. pp. 9-11), which denied his MNH (R. pp. 97-101) which was filed in the Public Index on November 18, 2019. Such Order was issued without a hearing for MNH, denying the usual privilege and courtesy extended to parties as practiced by the Court. This filing preceded an Order of November 25, 2019, which granted SJ (R. pp. 5-8) against Appellant, which was granted based upon errors of law. Consequently, though a “Motion to Reconsider ...” (R. pp. 157-166) was filed later, being similarly denied by the Order of February 20 (R. pp. 9-11), and also without a hearing, this slight-of-hand-shell game by the Court prohibited Appellant's-previously-prepared documents from being pleaded and heard.

Appellant's-simple action was brought seeking DJ interpretations from pertinent sections from the statute: “South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act of 1994” (NPCA), and was brought with intent to bring benefits to Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. (WHOA) members (Members), and to further their best interests. Alleged statutorily-unlawful actions by the WHOA Board of Directors (Board), of withholding information requested by a Member, leads to a disputed, genuine issue of fact which falls directly under the NPCA Section 33-31-1602, which gives lawful discretion to the Court to determine whether information not specifically listed in the NPCA must be provided, when a proper purpose is shown. Every effort was made by Appellant to avoid bringing an action to Court, amicably requesting information several times, but without any information being provided. Respondents withheld all information from Corporate records as requested by Appellant.

Specifically, Appellant alleged that Respondents unlawfully withheld a “List of Members” which must be supplied on request as mandated by the NPCA. Respondents also withheld from Appellant all other requested information, which included but was not limited to, for example: Board-meeting schedule and minutes, as well as a “List” of Members who returned ballots, for ballots which were due in November, 2018. The Board also withheld requested information about their plan to fill vacancies on the Board, and in fact never did fill vacancies, which was a violation of WHOA By-Laws.

Appellant felt he was hoodwinked and tricked into not filing his MTR in a timely fashion, considering Appellant gave notice of his MNH to Judge Stilwell's Law Clerk, where a reply verified awareness of MNH, prior to the Order of 11/25 (R. 5-8) being issued.

Respondents negated several of Appellant's attempts to schedule, and thus to satisfy the Court's-mediation requirement, via dilatory tactics and claims of needed discovery. Such claims never made sense to Appellant as related to requested DJ. Still to this date, which is well beyond the 300-day-after-case-filing deadline, Respondents have not participated in mediation.

Such appeal is based upon application of statutorily-wrong standards, where a granting of SJ against Appellant was not based upon merits of the case, but rather was based upon other-technical-legalistic arguments. Granting of SJ was a far cry from justice being served on Appellant's request for DJ. In his MOP (R. pp. 75-82) of 10/23, Appellant cited many instances of genuine issues of material fact, specifically as itemized by paragraph 9 of AIS (R. pp. 220-225), which was a summary of “Exhibit I” as found in Appellants' Affidavit

(R. pp. 235-241) filed in the Public Index on July 12, 2019. As found in this 07/12 Affidavit, paragraphs: 10 – 13, 16, 20, and 21 also cite genuine issues of material fact.

As set forth in Appellant's verified Complaint (R. pp. 13-26), with Exhibits (R. pp. 27-38) and Affidavits (R. pp. 214-219, 235-241) made a part of the Public Index, Appellant is a long-time member in good standing of WHOA and a long-time resident of the community. The Complaint brought genuine issues of fact, where the Court was asked to adjudicate disputed question-of-law issues. The 07/12 Affidavit (R. pp. 235-241), supported by exhibits (R. pp. 242-263), also brought genuine issues of fact which disputed questions of law, along with other requests for information that Respondents totally ignored.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from a denial of Appellant's right to a hearing on his MNH (R. pp. 97-101), and thus also an appeal from the Order granting SJ (R. pp. 5-8). Appellant appeals such granting based upon errors of law, as well as abuse of judicial discretion. From his MOP of 10/23 (R. pp. 75-82), Appellant quotes paragraph 1:

1. The Supreme Court of South Carolina reviewed the granting of summary judgment in *Bennett, et. al. v. Carter, et. al.*, Appellate Case No. 2016-000065, under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010). The trial court shall grant summary judgment if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. "In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Quail Hill, LLC, ...* 387 S.C. at 235, 692 S.E.2d at 505 (quoting *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 563, 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006)). Where, as here, the burden is upon Defendants to show a preponderance of evidence warranting summary judgment; "the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to

withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.* 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E. 2D 801, 803 (2009).

ARGUMENT

1. The Judge erred in misinterpreting the statute with resulting claim that Defendants were immune from suit, which is an error of law.

NPCA 33-31-834(a) was misquoted by the Judge during Hearing by skipping pertinent-statute provisions:

And I'll read from Section 33-31-834: “All directors, trustees or members of the governing body for not for profit cooperative corporations of associations and organizations, are immune from suit arising from the conduct of the affairs of these cooperatives, corporations, associations or organizations. This immunity from suit is removed when the conduct amounts to willful, wanton or gross negligence”. (Transcript pp. 20 - 21, ll. 19 – 25, 1 – 3) (R. pp. 200-201).

where the Judge did not read pertinent phrases, and ignored that the Board is not immune as clarified under 33-31-834(b)(2). With emphasis on missed content, a proper-NPCA quoting is:

SECTION 33-31-834. Immunity from suit.

(a) All directors, trustees, or members of the governing bodies of not-for-profit cooperatives, corporations, associations, and organizations **described in subsection (b)** are immune from suit arising from the conduct of the affairs of these cooperatives, corporations, associations, or organizations. This immunity from suit is removed when the conduct amounts to wilful, wanton, or gross negligence. **Nothing in this section may be construed to grant immunity to the not-for-profit cooperatives, corporations, associations, or organizations.**

(b) Subsection (a) applies to the following:

- (1) electric cooperatives organized under Chapter 49, Title 33;**
- (2) not-for-profit corporations, associations, and organizations, as recognized in and exempted from taxation under Federal Income Tax Code Section 501(c)(3), (c)(6), or (c)(12).**

where as MTR of 12/26 (R. pp. 157-166), par. 2a2:

2a2) WHOA is eliminated from “immunity” per 33-31-834(a), since 834(b)(2) clarifies 834(a) does **not** apply to WHOA, because WHOA is

not “... recognized in and exempted from taxation under Federal Income Tax Code Section 501(c)(3), (c)(6), or (c)(12).” ...

which therefore eliminates the Board, as well as the individuals comprising the Board, from immunity. WHOA, its Board, or Board members can never possess immunity, nor can they be “... recognized in and exempted ...” to qualify for immunity under any of the requisite 501(c)(3) “... Charitable, ...”, (c)(6) “Business Leagues, ...”, nor (c)(12) “Benevolent Life Insurance Associations, ...”, where judicial notice may be taken per page 68 summary table of: “IRS Publication 557, Tax-Exempt Status for Your Organization” (R. pp. 261-263).

Appellant cites his MNH of 11/18, par. 11 (R. pp. 99):

11. On October 30, 2019 (Figure 2) [R. p. 105], Plaintiff noted that the “South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act of 1994” (NPCA), Section 33-31-834(b) is not applicable to Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. (WHOA) with respect to:

‘... WHOA is actually more properly categorized as a “Mutual Benefit” -corporation under the “South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act” ’ where additionally Counsel admits (Figure 1) [R. p. 102]:

“... the HOA is a nonprofit, and we believe the HOA is eligible to file for tax classification under 501(c)(3), (6), or (12), the HOA has not made the requisite tax filings at this point. ...”

which was also clarified on November 1 by Plaintiff (Attachment) [R. p. 111]:

“... Defense Council now concedes Summary Judgment cannot be given based upon 33-31-834(a) “immunity from suit”, since WHOA is not a 501(c)(3) organization – 33-31-834(b)(2). ...”

and also cites MNH, par. 12 (R. p. 99), brought to Judge Stilwell's attention on October 30:

12. On October 30, 2019 (Figure 2), Plaintiff further noted that legislative intent of the NPCA was not to grant immunity in instances where law was violated, since: “... Violation of law equates to all of: willful, wanton, and gross negligence.”

Appellant stated further that “unlawful conduct” easily qualifies as negligence in his MTR of 12/26, par. 2a3 (R. pp. 159-160):

2a3) Allegations of: "... willful, wanton conduct or gross negligence ..."
were wrongfully ignored as a basis for granting Summary Judgment:

So, what I'm going to do, respectfully, is grant the motion for summary judgment based on the fact that the Defendants are immune from prosecution under 33-31-834. And there's been no allegation of willful, wanton conduct or gross negligence. ... (Transcript p.21, ll. 19-23) (R. p. 201)

where the "Attachment" to MNH (p. 15, par. 2 as filed in the Public Index) (R. p. 111), plainly showed (emphasis added):

I believe the Court can also **easily recognize** my case's claim of **unlawful conduct as "negligence", which annuls immunity.** ...

Defense Counsel further admits that WHOA is **not** currently recognized under US-Tax Code as a 501(c)(3) organization.

However, as seen in Figure 1, paragraph 2 (R. p. 114) (emphasis added):

"A mutual-benefit corporation can be non-profit or not-for-profit in the United States, but it cannot obtain IRS 501(c)(3) non-profit status as a charitable organization. ..."

2. The Judge erred in claiming a "wrong party" was named, which is an error of law in contradiction of statute, and in contradiction of the Judge's own precedent.

During the Hearing in direct contradiction to the meaning of "Board" as defined in the NPCA Section 33-31-140, which clearly says: "... irrespective of the name by which the individual or individuals are designated ...", the Judge conjectured:

... But I think ab initio, you are not allowed to sue the board of directors individually under the enumerated or articulated causes of action.
(Transcript p. 21, ll. 16 – 18) (R. p. 201).

which is an error of law per the stated definition:

SECTION 33-31-140. Definitions.

Unless the context otherwise requires;

(3) "Board" or "board of directors" means the individual or individuals vested with overall management of the affairs of the domestic or foreign corporation, irrespective of the name by which the individual or individuals are designated, except that no individual or group of individuals is the board of directors because of powers delegated to that individual or group pursuant to Section 33-31-801(c).

since the case caption reads: Christopher Edwards, Charles Koshis, Denis Esteve, Michael Keels, and William Craigo in their capacity as Board of Directors of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. (R. p. 13).

Further, Appellant cannot be subjected to the vagrant nature of whimsical judgment that changes between one case to another case; Appellant cites his MNH of 11/18, par. 2 (R. p. 98) and Exhibit 2 (R. p. 107) and associated Order (R. p. 2), which shows the Judge contradicted his own ruling against such “wrong party” claim in a prior Case 2017-CP-23-06301. This is also clarified by Appellant's MTR of 12/26, par. 2b (R. p. 160), where highlights show:

... “Motion to Dismiss by Defendants ...” ... (emphasis added):
These Defendants are **not proper parties** to such claims
and Plaintiff has **failed to name proper parties and/or
necessary parties** to seek the relief requested.

which was denied by Judge-Stilwill's Order filed in the Public Index of January 23, 2018 (R. pp. 1-2):

... and following review of Plaintiff's Complaint, the Board Defendants' Motion, Board Defendants' Memorandum in Support and related Affidavits and Exhibits, and Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition and related Affidavits and Exhibits, I find in favor of Plaintiff, denying Board Defendants' Motion in all respects.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, that Board Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, and, in the alternative, to Strike or for a More Definite Statement is DENIED.

A conjecture of “wrong party” also stands as contrary to a recent COA Order (R. p. 4), as cited in Appellant's MTR of 12/26, par. 2b2 (R. pp. 160-161):

2b2) was again denied, and other Hearing conjectures were denied, by the South Carolina Court of Appeals on November 8, 2019, Case 2018-001209 (appeal of “06301”, Addendum 2); respondents motion pp. 5-6 showed

that several conjectures made in the Hearing of October 28, 2019 are invalid as denied by the COA Order:

... When Appellant initiated this action, the individual Respondents comprised the entire board of directors, and thus possessed the managerial authority of the Association. This action was instituted against Respondents in their capacity as the current Board of Directors of the Association. Notably, Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., the corporate entity itself, was never made a party to this proceeding. Because none of the Respondents are currently serving as directors or officers of the Association, the Respondents no longer individually or collectively possess the managerial authority of the Association or the decision making capacity of the board of directors for the Association. Likewise, since all of the Respondents are no longer serving as directors or officers, they no longer serve in any corporate capacity. As such, they no longer possess a material interest in the matters alleged by Appellant/Plaintiff, and no longer serve in the capacity in which they were named in this suit (they were named in their capacity as directors).

As related to the genuine issue of Respondents being a "Wrong Party", their argument was rebutted by Appellant in his MOP of 10/24, par. 8 (R. p. 78):

8. **Rebuttal:** Plaintiff states that "... the Woodington HOA itself ..." is not a viable entity that is capable to perform any real-world-physical task, and further cites Defendants in their capacity as Board of WHOA as a viable entity that is capable to perform the real-world-physical task of providing requested information; Plaintiff further believes that the Court and all parties are fully aware that Defendants in their capacity represent the responsible, governing body of WHOA that has access and authority over the requested information;

Appellant also cites that many cases throughout history show a proven fact: "Board of Directors", is a legitimate party to a judicial action; see Exhibit 2 (R. pp. 210-212).

3. The Judge erred in granting Summary Judgment which constituted an abuse of discretion when genuine issues of fact existed.

Appellant cites his MTR, par. 11 (R. p. 165):

11. Plaintiff's claim that the Court has law-given discretion, which should have precluded the granting of Summary Judgment, was improperly ignored:

.The thing I've cited now in my complaint, as supported by affidavits and exhibits, I believe the court has [law-] given discretion to affirm my request for information. Under the Nonprofit Corporation Act sections 33-31-1602(d) (1) and (d) (2). Primarily, because I am a litigant and I have the same rights, I have the rights according to the law to the same extent as any other litigant. ... (Transcript p. 15-16, ll. 22-25, 1-4) .[R. pp. 195-196]

.The Defendants completely ignore item (d) (2) of the NPCA which says:

.“The power of the court, independently of this chapter to compel the production of corporate records for examination”, .which clearly shows the true: [quote] “legislative intent”, [end quote] of the Nonprofit Corporation Act. [And] As spelled out in my verified complaint, it's affidavits and exhibits in support. The legislature inserted a provision in the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act, giving a judge discretion to compel information, even though it may not specifically appear in the Nonprofit Corporation Act as required to be provided. Plaintiff asks the court to consider compelling my requested information in its discretion pursuant to that statute.(Transcript p. 16, ll. 10-24) [R. p. 196]

where Appellant stated such claims as based upon law in his original Complaint, par. 8

(R. p. 16), as reiterated by excerpts from MTR, par. 5 (R. p. 162):

8. In addition, Plaintiff is a “litigant” (Affidavit), as described under Section 33-31-1602(d) of the NPCA, and it is Plaintiff's position that he is therefore entitled to such information, ...

“SECTION 33-31-1602. Inspection of records by members.

..
..

. (d) This section does not affect:

. (1) the right of a member to inspect records under Section 33-31-720 or, if the member is in litigation with the corporation, to the same extent as any other litigant; or

. (2) the power of a court, independently of this chapter, to compel the production of corporate records for examination.”

.since Plaintiff is a litigant per 2017-CP-23-06301, as Appeal 2018-001209.

As related to the genuine issue of fact as to whether or not information was provided,

Appellant cites his MOP of 10/24, par. 7 (R. p. 78):

7. **Rebuttal:** Plaintiff has not been provided any information as requested by his Complaint, as supported by Affidavit and Exhibits, nor as requested by a subsequent Affidavit filed July 12, 2019, as supported by Exhibits; Plaintiff notes Defendants' opinion but disputes their legal conclusion, where Plaintiff contends he is legally entitled to requested information, which when provided will satisfy requested relief in full.

where a specific instance is cited per MTR of 12/26, par. 7 (R. p. 163):

.7. Counsel confirmed there is a genuine issue, and thus the moving party is **not** entitled to Summary Judgment:

. they're looking as a matter of law whether Mr. Wedlake is entitled to the list under the Nonprofit Corporation Act. (Transcript p. 6, ll. 17-19) [R. p. 186]

.which mandates denial of Summary Judgment pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCPP (emphasis added):

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