RECEIVED

Jan 11 2021

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2019-23-00269
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000438

Raymond A. Wedlake, as a Member of the Woodington
Homeowners' Association, Inc.

Appellant,

v.

Christopher Edwards, Charles Koshis, Denis Esteve, Michael
Keels and William Craigo in their capacity as Board of Directors
of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc.,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Emily Kate O'Brian (SC Bar #101824)
16 W. North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 326-4186
emily@campbellteague.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court properly denied Appellant’s December 26, 2019 Motion to Reconsider as untimely.

1. **South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require motions to reconsider to be filed within 10 days of the judgment or order to be altered or amended.**

Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, “A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.” Rule 59(g), SCRPC, further requires, “A party filing a written motion under this rule shall provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after the filing of the motion.”

2. **Appellant did not file his MTR within 10 days after receipt of notice of entry of the MSJ Order.**

It is undisputed that the MSJ Order was entered on November 25, 2019. (R. pp. 5-8.) Further, Appellant’s December 2, 2019 memorandum on an unrelated issue shows that he had notice of the MSJ Order at least by that date. (R. p. 149 ¶ 3a.1.) It is further undisputed that Appellant’s MTR was not filed until December 26, 2019—30 days after the MSJ Order was entered and at *least* 24 days after Appellant was on notice of the same. (MTR, R. p. 157, 166; MSJ Order, R. p. 8; App. Dec. 2 Memo., R. p. 149 ¶ 3a.1.) Thus, the record is clear that Appellant’s MTR was filed outside the ten-day deadline, and the circuit court correctly held that Appellant’s MTR was untimely. (R. pp. 9-10.)

3. **Appellant has not provided the Circuit Court or this Court any evidence that his MTR was timely filed or timely served.**

Nowhere in Appellant’s MTR does he assert that his motion was in fact filed within 10 days of him receiving notice of the MSJ Order. (R. pp. 157-166). As this issue was not raised nor any evidence presented to the circuit court, Appellant cannot now assert for the first time on appeal that his MTR was in fact timely. *Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have

been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”) (citation omitted). In fact, Appellant admits that his filing was not within the ten-day time frame. (App. Brief, pp. 1 & 2.)

Further, the circuit court found that Appellant’s MTR was not properly served pursuant to Rule 59(g), SCRPC. (R. pp. 9-10.) The circuit court invited Appellant to provide evidence to the contrary, but no such evidence was presented. (*Id.*) Overall, nothing in the record challenges or show error in the finding that Appellant’s MTR was untimely. Rather, the record confirms the MTR’s untimeliness.

4. South Carolina’s Rules of Civil Procedure and case law make clear that an untimely filing cannot be remedied by the court.

While Rule 6(b), SCRPC, allows for extension of some court deadlines, the Rule explicitly states, “The time for taking any action under rules 50(b), 52(b), 59, and 60(b) may not be extended except to the extent and under the conditions stated in them.” *Id.* As the South Carolina Supreme Court has affirmed, “Rule 59(e) does not have any ‘conditions stated’ which would allow such an extension.” *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, 423 S.C. 253, 255–56, 815 S.E.2d 431, 432 (2018). Therefore, the Supreme Court has reiterated on multiple occasions that the ten-day deadline in Rule 59(e), SCRPC, is an absolute deadline. *Id.* (citing *Leviner v. Sonoco Products Co.*, 339 S.C. 492, 494, 530 S.E.2d 127, 128 (2000) and *Alston v. MCI Commc'ns Corp.*, 84 F.3d 705, 706 (4th Cir. 1996) (“It is clear ... that the district court was without power to enlarge the time period for filing a Rule 59(e) motion.”)).

5. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in finding Appellant’s filing untimely and, thus, dismissing his motion.

Pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 59(e), 59(g), and 6(b), the circuit court made no error of law in finding that Appellant’s MTR, filed 30 days after the MSJ Order (and at least 24 days after notice of the same) and never served to the court, was untimely. Where there is no error of law, there can be no abuse of discretion. Thus, the MTR Order must be affirmed on

this ground.

Appellant asserts that the case of *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004) makes clear that a denial of an MTR as untimely is improper. (App. Brief, pp. 1 & 2). This is an incorrect reading and application of the law. *Elam* does state, “Our mandatory preservation requirements make it doubly important that litigants generally be freely allowed to file a first, written Rule 59(e) motion without concern a later appeal will be deemed untimely.” 361 S.C. at 25, 602 S.E.2d at 780. However, the context of this statement makes clear that (1) a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion must still be timely and (2) only properly filed Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motions will toll the time for appeal. *Id.* at 15, 602 S.E.2d at 775 (“A *timely* post-trial motion, including a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, stays the time for an appeal for all parties until receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion.) (emphasis added). Nothing in the Supreme Court’s opinion in *Elam* condones, permits, or otherwise excuses untimely filing of a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion. Further, the more recent 2018 Supreme Court opinion in *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, reaffirms that the ten-day deadline in Rule 59(e), SCRCP is an absolute deadline which the Court does not have discretion to extend. 423 S.C. 253, 255–56, 815 S.E.2d 431, 432.

B. The Circuit Court acted well within its discretion in denying Appellant’s Motion for New Hearing.

1. Appellant’s appeal of the denial of MNH is not timely.

The hearing on the MSJ was held on October 28, 2019. (R. p. 181.) On October 30, 2019, Appellant requested a new hearing via an email directly to Judge Stilwell. (R. pp. 226-229.) On November 18, 2019, Appellant filed his MNH. (R. pp. 97-101) The circuit court had the MNH before it and clearly opted not to grant a new hearing when it issued its November 25, 2019 MSJ Order. By ruling on the MSJ without a new hearing, Appellant’s MNH was effectively denied by the MSJ Order. Respondents acknowledge that the MSJ Order does not explicitly address the

MNH; however, the timing of events makes clear that the circuit court denied MNH by issuing the MSJ Order without first scheduling a new hearing. Even the MTR Order only includes a note regarding the MNH for *clarity*, not because the court viewed the motion as previously undecided, stating, “Furthermore, to the extent that any party may contend that Plaintiff’s Motion for a New Hearing filed November 18, 2019, is still pending, the same is denied.” (R. p. 10.)

Therefore, because the MNH was effectively denied by the MSJ Order and no appeal or motion to reconsider was timely filed after such the MSJ Order, the denial of a new hearing was not timely appealed. The time for serving the notice of appeal under Rule 203, SCACR, cannot be extended by the appellate court. Rule 263(b), SCACR. A timely appeal is a clear prerequisite for appellate jurisdiction in South Carolina, and where the deadline is missed, “the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *Elam*, 361 S.C.at 15, 602 S.E.2d at 775. Therefore, the MNH was denied without timely appeal and cannot be considered by this Court.

2. **Even if the Circuit Court’s denial of Appellant’s MNH were properly before this Court, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion.**
 - a) **Circuit courts are not required by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure to permit rehearings.**

Appellant’s MNH was filed in relation to Respondents’ MSJ, which is governed by Rule 56, SCRCR. (R. pp. 97-101.) Nothing in Rule 56, SCRCR, requires the court to rehear a motion for summary judgment. Further, while the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure contemplate new trials in certain circumstances, nothing in the rules contemplates new hearings on motions already briefed and argued before the court *except* though a properly filed Rule 59 motion.² And

² Appellant’s MNH cannot be considered a Rule 59 motion. Even viewing this motion in the light most favorable to Appellant and assuming it was an attempted Rule 59(e) motion, it was untimely filed 20 days (rather than the required 10 days) after the October 28, 2019 hearing. Further, it cannot

even under Rule 59, SCRPC, a court does not have to allow a hearing but may in its sole discretion decide the matter on brief. See Rule 59(f), SCRPC. Therefore, because the circuit court is not required to rehear oral arguments on motions, motions for new hearings necessarily are decided at the discretion of the circuit court.

b) Circuit Court had ample information before it to make a decision without rehearing.

Under an abuse of discretion standard, the appellate court should give significant deference to the circuit court's decision as the circuit court is in a better position to know and evaluate all circumstances surrounding the issue in question. *See, e.g., USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 377 S.C. at 651, 661 S.E.2d at 795 (deferring to the circuit court's credibility determinations regarding the timeliness of a motion for reconsideration and declining to reverse the circuit court's decision); *Reed v. Ozmint*, 374 S.C. 19, 24, 647 S.E.2d 209, 211 (2007) (noting the circuit court judge, who saw and heard the witnesses, is in a better position to evaluate their credibility and assign comparative weight to their testimony); *Carson*, 400 S.C. at 229, 734 S.E.2d at 152 (noting circuit court's discretion in governance of a case). Thus, to reverse the circuit court's denial of a new hearing, this Court must find the decision to deny such a hearing was based on an error of law or unsupported factual conclusions. *See, e.g., Carson*, 400 S.C. at 229, 734 S.E.2d at 152.

c) Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for rehearing.

As explained in Section B.2.a. above, there is no law requiring a circuit court to grant a new hearing, and Appellant has not offered any authority to show otherwise. (*See App. Brief.*) Thus, there can be no clear error of law in the circuit court's denial of a new hearing.

Second, the circuit court's denial of new hearing is not dependent upon factual conclusions

be considered a Rule 59(e) motion with respect to the Circuit Court's November 25, 2019 Order as such Order had not been filed yet. A Rule 59(e) motion cannot be filed preemptively or be said to preemptively toll the time to appeal even prior to an order being issued. Such procedure is fundamentally improper under the South Carolina Rules of Civil and Appellate Procedure

that could be found to be unsupported. This is not comparable to a bench trial or the like where the court has factual information it must assess; the court simply must decide if *it* needs a new hearing to rule on the pending motion.

Even extrapolating beyond the record, the only factual conclusion potentially involved in the circuit court's decision to deny a new hearing would be the circuit court's conclusion that it had all information before it necessary to make a decision on the MSJ without a new hearing. Such a decision would be clearly supported by the record which shows that the circuit court had all of the following before it prior to issuing its MSJ Order: (1) MSJ; (2) Respondents' Memorandum in Support of MSJ; (3) Appellant's Memorandums in Opposition to MSJ; (4) oral arguments presented at October 28, 2019 hearing; (5) Appellant's October 30, 2019 email to Judge Stilwell; (6) counsel for Respondents' October 31, 2019 email to Judge Stilwell; and (7) Appellant's MNH, with memorandum and exhibits incorporated. The circuit court had the opportunity to follow up with either party if it felt additional information was needed. Instead, the court determined that it had all necessary information to make a ruling and issued its MSJ Order on November 25, 2019.³ Such a decision was soundly within the circuit court's discretion, and there is no basis upon which this Court can find an abuse of the circuit court's discretion in denying a second oral argument.

C. **Appellant's presented issues on appeal cannot be considered by this Court as this Court does not have jurisdiction in this appeal over the MSJ Order granting Summary Judgment in favor of Respondents.**

1. **Appellant's notice of appeal was not filed within 30 days of notice of the MSJ Order and, thus, this Court does not have jurisdiction to review the MSJ Order.**

The circuit court issued the MSJ Order on November 25, 2019. (R.pp. 5-8.) During the thirty days that followed, Appellant made no attempt to file a notice of appeal. Rule 203(b)(1) of the

³ Again, this denial of a new hearing was reaffirmed in the MTR Order.

South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure requires notice of an appeal to be served “within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of an order or judgment.” A timely appeal is a clear prerequisite for appellate jurisdiction in South Carolina: “[t]he requirement [for a timely] notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 15, 602 S.E.2d at 775. Here, Appellant disregarded the deadline for notice of appeal of the November 25, 2019 MSJ Order by over two months, mailing his NOA on March 9, 2020. (R. p. 264.) Thus, any attempt to consider Appellant’s untimely appeal would turn a bright line jurisdictional inquiry into a merits inquiry. *Camp v. Camp*, 386 S.C. 571, 574, 689 S.E.2d 634, 636 (2010) (“[T]his Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served.”) (citing *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337, S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985)).

2. Only a timely motion for reconsideration can toll the time for appeal.

As stated above, Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, requires that a notice of appeal be served “within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of an order or judgment.” The time to appeal an order can only be stayed by “a timely motion for judgment n.o.v. (Rule 50, SCRCPP), motion to alter or amend the judgment (Rules 52 and 59, SCRCPP), or a motion for a new trial (Rule 59, SCRCPP)”. Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR.⁴ All such listed motions are required to be filed within ten days of the entry of the order or judgment. If untimely, the motion has no effect on the deadline to file a notice of appeal because the original judgment is final. *See Ulmer v. Ulmer*, 369 S.C. 486, 490, 632 S.E.2d 858, 861 (2006) (noting a judgment that is not appealed, right or wrong, becomes the law of

⁴ Note that a motion for a new hearing as to an order is not one of the motions specified to toll the time for serving a notice of appeal. Further, Appellant’s MNH cannot be construed as one of these tolling motions particularly because it was filed *before* the MSJ Order was entered. It would be contrary to all procedural rules to allow preemptive tolling of an appeal deadline before an order giving rise to appeal has actually been issued. *See infra* FN 2.

the case).

3. **Appellant's motion for reconsideration was not timely, and thus, the time for appeal of the MSJ Order was not tolled.**

The MSJ Order was entered on November 25, 2019.⁵ (R. pp. 5-8.) Appellant's MTR was not filed until December 26, 2019. (R. pp. 157-166.) Thus, Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion was properly held to be untimely (as explained in Section A., *infra*). No other motions pursuant to Rules 50 or 52 were filed at any time.

Because Appellant's MTR was not timely, the MTR was incapable of staying the deadline for Appellant to file his notice of appeal as to the MSJ Order. Thus, the 30-day deadline for filing his notice of appeal applies. SCACR 203(b)(1). Appellant's notice of appeal was not mailed until March 9, 2020 (R. p. 264.), which is well beyond the 30-day deadline to file a notice of appeal on the November 25, 2019 MSJ Order.

Therefore, as this Court already recognized in its MTD Order, this appeal is only timely as to, and this Court only has jurisdiction to consider, the MTR Order. (R. p. 4.) The MSJ Order is final and cannot be appealed. *See, e.g., Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (an unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance).

4. **Appellant cannot use the MTR Order as a back door for this Court to review the merits of the MSJ Order.**

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